

MEMORANDUM

TO: Dr. Gloria J. Gibson, President
Jim Palos, Chair

FROM: Melissa Reardon Henry, VP Legal Affairs and General Counsel

SUBJECT: Summary of proposed revisions to Board Bylaws and Regulations

DATE: August 6, 2020

At its executive committee on August 10, 2020, the Board of Trustees will consider revision recommendations to the Board's Bylaws and Regulations:

Board Bylaws Sections IV. B. Election of Officers

Change: bi-annually

Rationale: to conform to [Northeastern Illinois University Law 110 ILCS 680/25-25](#)

Board Regulations Section I. B.

Change: Board Regulations are ~~general statements of policy or procedure~~ rules or directives adopted by the Board

Rationale: to distinguish Board Regulations from university policies as defined by [G1.1 Formulation and Issuance of University Policies](#)

Board Regulations Section I. F.

Change:

3. Presentations

~~a. Persons desiring to address the Board shall submit a written request to the President at least five working days prior to the Board meeting. The request shall include:~~

~~(1) the name, address and phone number of the person wishing to speak~~

~~(2) the name of the group represented~~

~~(3) a summary of the presentation~~

~~b. The President and the Chair shall consult with respect to each request to address the Board. Prior to the meeting, the President shall indicate to each person properly submitting a request to address the Board,~~

~~whether the request will be granted or denied. If the request is granted, the form and duration of the presentation shall be subject to rulings from the Chair.~~

- a. A person seeking to address the Board must complete a “sign-in” sheet prior to addressing the Board. Such “sign-in” sheet will be available at the meeting but a person seeking to address the Board is encouraged to notify the President at least forty-eight hours in advance of the meeting. The speaker must list his/her name on the “sign-in” sheet and may include additional information including, but not limited to, his or her address and telephone number to assist NEIU in any necessary follow-up with the speaker.
- b. When the number of requests to address the Board at a given session exceeds the time available, requests will be approved based on the date the written request was received by the President. In addition, preference will be given to subject matters that relate to the agenda for the relevant Board meeting and to avoid repetitiveness.
- c. A person seeking to address the Board should limit his or her comments to issues of concern before the Board and shall not contain comments of a personal nature directed towards individual Board members, NEIU employees or any other individual.
- d. The Board will allow up to thirty minutes in total for public comment/questions per meeting. Persons appearing before the Board will each be allotted no more than three (3) minutes for the purpose of making their public comments. This will be strictly adhered to with assistance of a timekeeper. It is the Chair’s prerogative to extend the time allotted to any speaker, given the other matters on the Board’s agenda.
- e. The Board, in its discretion, may accept written comments at its meetings.
- f. Any person who does not comply with these guidelines will not be allowed to address the Board.

Rationale: To comply with guidance from the Attorney General’s office regarding “Public Comment” under the Open Meetings Act and to align with similar policies from some of NEIU’s sister Universities.

Board Regulations Section II. A. (throughout)

Change: ~~Policy on the~~ Avoidance of Appearance of Nepotism;
policy Regulation

Rationale: avoiding nepotism is a Board of Trustees directive. In accordance with the directive, the university has enacted [E1.04.1 Nepotism and Personal Relationships](#).

Board Regulation Section II. A. (throughout)

Change: ~~U~~niversity

Rationale: to resolve inconsistency and align with stylistic norms.

Board Regulation Section II. A. 16.

Change: Copyrights and Patents ~~Policies~~

Rationale: to distinguish Board Regulations from university policies as defined by G1.1 Formulation and Issuance of University Policies

Board Regulation Section II. A. (throughout)

Change: ~~policy~~ Regulation

Rationale: to distinguish Board Regulations from university policies as defined by G.1.1 Formulation and Issuance of University Policies

Board Regulation Section II. B. (throughout)

Change: ~~his/her~~ their

Change: ~~he/she~~ they

Change: ~~husband~~ spouse/partner

Rationale: to align Board Regulations with the university's stated value of inclusivity

Board Regulations Sections VI. A., C., E., and H.

Change: ~~regulations~~ policies

Change: ~~policy~~ Regulation

Rationale: to clarify and distinguish Board Regulations from university policies as defined by G1.1 Formulation and Issuance of University Policies

Melissa



Board of Trustees
5500 North St. Louis Avenue
Chicago, IL 60625-4699

BYLAWS

Issued: April 7, 1998
Revised April 19, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION 1

SECTION I. POWERS AND DUTIES 2

SECTION II. MEETINGS 2

SECTION III. RULES OF ORDER 2

SECTION IV. OFFICERS AND EX-OFFICIOS 3

SECTION V. DUTIES OF OFFICERS 3

A. CHAIR 3

B. VICE CHAIR 4

C. SECRETARY 4

D. TEMPORARY CHAIR 4

E. ASSISTANT SECRETARY 4

F. TREASURER 4

SECTION VI. COMMITTEES 4

SECTION VII. ADOPTION, AMENDMENT, AND REPEAL OF BYLAWS 5

INTRODUCTION

The laws of the State of Illinois establish the Board of Trustees of Northeastern Illinois University, which has the authority and responsibility to operate, manage, control, and maintain Northeastern Illinois University.

The Board herewith adopts Bylaws, Governing Policies, and Board Regulations intended to encourage and facilitate cooperation among the Board, the President, faculty, staff, and students in their mutual efforts to strengthen and improve education at Northeastern Illinois University.

The Board recognizes that the mission of the university is complex and imposes interdependent relationships among the Board, and the university community, which must pursue the goal of excellence in a spirit of mutual trust. As the final institutional authority, the Board entrusts the coordination and management of the University to the President with the understanding that provision shall be made for advisory participation by the faculty, staff, and students in university decision-making. In assigning these duties to the President, the Board delegates primary responsibility to the President for management and direction of all university operations and leadership of the university.

The Board emphasizes its conviction that inquiry and discussion, safeguarded by tenure and academic freedom, are essential to the quest for truth. Furthermore, the Board endorses the principle of shared governance within the framework of its Governing Policies.

SECTION I. POWERS AND DUTIES

The Board shall have all of the powers and duties specified in 110 ILCS §680/25-1, 1001 et seq.; 110 ILCS §615/14; and 110 ILCS §681/26-1, et seq. of the Illinois Revised Statutes.

SECTION II. MEETINGS

(Revised April 19, 2018, Board action)

- A. Meetings of the Board shall be held and a quorum determined in accordance with 110 ILCS §680/25-25 and 5 ILCS §120/2.01 of the Illinois Compiled Statutes.
 1. After a quorum is established, additional Board members may attend the meeting via video or audio conference if the member is unable to attend the meeting due to (i) personal illness or disability; (ii) employment purposes or public business of the Board; or (iii) family or other emergency.
 2. If a member wishes to attend by video or audio conference, he/she shall notify the Secretary of the Board as soon as practicable. Upon notifying the Secretary, the member shall also indicate the reason he or she is unable to physically attend the meeting. The Board shall then take a vote to determine whether the member shall be permitted to attend via video or audio conference.
- B. The Board shall hold five regular meetings each year. The regular meeting held in June shall be the annual meeting. The Board, by vote of a majority of a quorum, may omit or cancel any meeting provided the Board meets at least once each quarter as required by Statute. The date of any setting may be changed by vote of a majority of a quorum or by order of the Chair.
- C. The Board may hold special meetings as called by the Chair of the Board or by any 3 members of the Board. Ordinarily, notice of a special meeting shall be mailed to all members at least five days prior to the date of the meeting.
- D. Four of the five regular meetings of the Board shall be held on the campus of Northeastern Illinois University.
- E. All meetings of the Board shall be conducted and notice thereof provided in accordance with the Illinois Open Meetings Act, 5 ILCS § 120/1, et seq.
- F. The President shall sit and participate with the Board at each regular and special meeting of the Board.

SECTION III. RULES OF ORDER

- A. Meetings of the Board and its committees shall be conducted in accordance with controlling statutes and applicable bylaws, regulations, or policies. In the absence of such statutes, bylaws, regulations, or policies, meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order*.
- B. With the exception of usual, short, parliamentary motions, all motions, resolutions, or other propositions requiring Board action shall, whenever practicable, be reduced to writing before submission to a vote.
- C. A record vote of the Board taken in alphabetical order shall be had (and preserved in the Minutes) on all propositions involving the creation of indebtedness; the sale, purchase, or leasing of any real estate; or any contract for the construction, alteration, or repair of any building or area which requires Board action, or on any adoption of or amendment to the Bylaws, Governing Policies, or Regulations of the Board; and also on any

proposition, at the request of any member of the Board made before the announcement of a vote otherwise taken.

SECTION IV. OFFICERS AND EX-OFFICIOS

- A. The Officers and Ex-Officios of the Board shall include:
 - 1. As Officers, a Chair, Vice Chair and Secretary who shall be members elected by members of the Board.
 - 2. As Ex-Officios, an Assistant Secretary and a Treasurer, who shall be employees on staff of the University.
- B. The Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary shall be members elected by a majority of the voting members of the Board then serving **bi-annually** by secret ballot. The Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary may be elected for successive terms. The Chair, Vice Chair, or Secretary may be removed from office during a term by the affirmative votes of a majority of the voting members of the Board then serving. Vacancies in these offices shall be filled immediately by election for the remainder of the unexpired term.
- C. The Assistant Secretary and Treasurer, shall be elected by a majority of the voting members of the Board then serving to hold office for an indefinite term and shall serve at the pleasure of the Board until their successors are elected and qualify. They may be removed from office by the affirmative votes of a majority of the voting members of the Board then serving.
- D. A vote for the removal of any Board Officer shall be preceded by notice specifying the proposed action mailed to each Board member and the Officer at least ten days prior to the meeting at which such vote is taken.
- E. Representatives of the Board to serve on other boards, commissions, and similar bodies shall be designated as required by statute. In the absence of statutory requirements, they shall be elected by a majority of a quorum of the Board at a meeting as may be appropriate. In the absence of statutory requirements, vacancies in such positions shall be filled by nomination by the Chair and election by a majority of a quorum at any meeting of the Board.

Formatted: Highlight

SECTION V. DUTIES OF OFFICERS

A. CHAIR

The Chair shall:

- 1. Preside at all Board meetings, with full power to vote on and discuss all matters before the Board.
- 2. Submit such information and recommendations considered proper concerning the business and interests of the university.
- 3. Certify vouchers for disbursement of State appropriations or delegate such authority to others.
- 4. Sign, with the Secretary of the Board, all contracts approved by the Board, except in those instances wherein the Board, by regulation, has authorized the Chair to designate or has otherwise designated persons to sign in the name of or on behalf of the Chair.

B. VICE CHAIR

The Vice Chair shall:

1. Preside at meetings in the event of nonattendance by the Chair.
2. Perform the Chair's duties in the event of the Chair's temporary inability to do so because of absence from Illinois or otherwise.
3. Become the Acting Chair in the event of the death, resignation, or removal of the Chair until a new Chair is elected.

C. SECRETARY

The Secretary shall sign, with the Chair of the Board, all contracts approved by the Board, except in those instances wherein the Board, by Regulation, has authorized the Secretary to designate or has otherwise designated persons to sign in the name of or on behalf of the Secretary.

D. TEMPORARY CHAIR

If the Chair and Vice Chair are both absent from a meeting, the voting members present may elect a member to serve as Temporary Chair for that meeting only.

E. ASSISTANT SECRETARY

The Assistant Secretary shall:

1. Keep the minutes and records of the proceedings of the Board and the books, papers, and records pertaining to the Office of the Secretary.
2. Prepare and distribute to all Board members, Officers, and the President copies of the Minutes of all meetings of the Board and, within ten days after final approval of the Minutes, send to the library of the university four copies thereof, which shall be made available to anyone requesting them.
3. Prepare and distribute notices and agendas and arrange for Board meetings.

F. TREASURER

The Treasurer shall:

1. Keep the financial records of the Board.
2. Carry out such other functions as the Board shall assign or as may be required by law.
3. Furnish a bond in such amount and with such security as is satisfactory to the Board.

SECTION VI. COMMITTEES

- A. The Executive Committee of the Board shall be a standing committee consisting of the Chair, the Vice Chair, and the Secretary. Another member of the Board shall be a member pro-tem, who shall replace any regular member of the committee who is unable to act for any reason. The Executive Committee Members will be elected by the voting members of the Board. For sufficient cause, when the Board is not in a regular or special meeting, the Executive Committee shall act for the Board. The unanimous vote of the members of the Executive Committee who cast their votes shall be required to authorize the commitment of monies. All actions taken by the Executive Committee shall be reported and recorded in the Minutes at the subsequent Board meeting.

- B. The Board may establish committees consisting of voting and nonvoting Board members to perform any assigned task. The Board Chair shall nominate the members, who are to serve on a committee, shall select a Chair from among the members, and shall submit their names to the Board for approval. The Board Chair shall notify all members of the Board as to the nominees at least five days before the meeting at which a committee is to be established. This requirement may be waived upon approval of a majority of a quorum at such meeting.
- C. The chair of each committee shall call its meetings, preside over its proceedings, and report its actions to the Board. In all other respects, the chair shall have no greater authority than any other member of the committee.
- D. The Board Chair shall serve as an ex-officio voting member of all committees and may be elected chair of a committee by affirmative vote of a majority of a quorum of the Board.

SECTION VII. ADOPTION, AMENDMENT, AND REPEAL OF BYLAWS

Bylaws may be adopted, amended, or repealed at any regular meeting of the Board by a majority vote of the total voting membership of the Board, provided that written notice containing insofar as possible the exact wording of each bylaw to be adopted, amended, or repealed shall have been presented at the preceding regular meeting of the Board.

SECTION I. BOARD PROCEDURES

A. BOARD OF TRUSTEES

The Board of Trustees of Northeastern Illinois University is a body corporate and politic of the State of Illinois created to operate, manage, control, and maintain Northeastern Illinois University. The Board of Trustees of and Northeastern Illinois University shall be referred to in these regulations as the "Board of Trustees" or the "Board".

B. BOARD REGULATIONS

Board Regulations are ~~general statements of policy or procedure rules or directives~~ adopted by the Board concerning the conduct and operation of the Board or the university within the framework of the Board's Governing Policies. Guidelines, policies, or other Board actions directed to specific situations or intended to direct or guide the university are not to be construed as Board Regulations.

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

C. ADOPTION, AMENDMENT, OR REPEAL OF BOARD REGULATIONS

1. Board Regulations may be adopted, amended, or repealed at any regular meeting of the Board by a majority vote of the voting membership of the Board. Requests for the adoption, amendment, or repeal of Board Regulations shall be submitted to the President, who shall notify the Board's Chair of such requests. The President shall report such requests with recommendations for action to the Board. Except as specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 below, the adoption, amendment, or repeal of Board Regulations shall occur only after a proposal for adoption, amendment, or repeal has been presented to the Board for first reading by the President.
2. Board action on the proposal shall normally not be taken earlier than next regular meeting following first reading. During the interim between first reading and Board action, the President shall distribute copies of the proposal to appropriate faculty, staff, and student groups. Up to ten days prior to the Board meeting at which action is to be taken, members of the faculty, staff, and student body may submit their views and comments in writing to the President for distribution to the Board together with the President's recommendation for action on the proposal.
3. The President is authorized to make non-substantive amendments to the Board Regulations as may be necessary for such purposes as name or title changes, correcting typographical errors and cross-references, and updating citations.
4. When justified by timing considerations or the nature of the subject matter, proposals for adoption, amendment, or repeal of Board Regulations may be acted upon by the Board at the time of first reading or at such Special Meeting the Board may convene.
5. Interpretations of Board Regulations shall be issued in writing by the Board's legal counsel upon request of the Board or the President.

D. COMPILATION OF BYLAWS, GOVERNING POLICIES, AND REGULATIONS

The President shall maintain an official compilation of the Board's Bylaws, Governing Policies, and Regulations and shall provide copies to members of the Board. Copies shall be distributed to appropriate staff and student body officers, to each Dean and Director within the university, and shall be placed in the Northeastern Illinois University Ronald Williams Library for use by interested persons.

E. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

The authority delegated by the Board Regulations to the President may be further delegated by the President to appropriate and responsible officials of the University.

F. BOARD MEETINGS

1. Agenda

The President, in consultation with the Board Chair, shall develop an agenda prior to each Board meeting. The President shall normally mail meeting materials to Board members and other appropriate parties at least seven days prior to the next scheduled meeting. The President shall distribute a copy of the meeting materials to the Chair of the Faculty Senate. Distribution of meeting materials may be subject to reasonable limitations in the case of special or emergency meetings.

2. Reports

The President, in consultation with the Vice Presidents shall develop a format and schedule for reports to the Board. Items presented to the Board shall be submitted for either action or information. Each item presented for action shall be accompanied by an appropriate resolution or recommendation to provide a clear record of the action taken by the Board.

3. Presentations

a. A person seeking to address the Board must complete a "sign-in" sheet prior to addressing the Board. Such "sign-in" sheet will be available at the meeting but a person seeking to address the Board is encouraged to notify the President at least forty-eight hours in advance of the meeting. The speaker must list his/her name on the "sign-in" sheet and may include additional information including, but not limited to, his or her address and telephone number to assist NEIU in any necessary follow-up with the speaker.

b. When the number of requests to address the Board at a given session exceeds the time available, requests will be approved based on the date the written request was received by the President. In addition, preference will be given to subject matters that relate to the agenda for the relevant Board meeting and to avoid repetitiveness.

c. A person seeking to address the Board should limit his or her comments to issues of concern before the Board and shall not contain comments of a personal nature directed towards individual Board members, NEIU employees or any other individual.

Deleted: <#>Persons desiring to address the Board shall submit a written request to the President at least five working days prior to the Board meeting. The request shall include the name, address and phone number of the person wishing to speak, the name of the group represented, and a summary of the presentation.

<#>The President and the Chair shall consult with respect to each request to address the Board. Prior to the meeting, the President shall indicate to each person properly submitting a request to address the Board whether the request will be granted or denied. If the request is granted, the form and duration of the presentation shall be subject to rulings of the Chair.

Formatted: Not Expanded by / Condensed by

- d. The Board will allow up to thirty minutes in total for public comment/questions per meeting. Persons appearing before the Board will each be allotted no more than three (3) minutes for the purpose of making their public comments. This will be strictly adhered to with assistance of a timekeeper. It is the Chair's prerogative to extend the time allotted to any speaker, given the other matters on the Board's agenda.
- e. The Board, in its discretion, may accept written comments at its meetings.
- f. Any person who does not comply with these guidelines will not be allowed to address the Board.

4. **Recording of Meetings**

Any person may record by tape, film, or other means the meetings of the Board of Trustees or its committees required to be open by Illinois law, provided that, if the recording process interferes with the overall decorum and proceeding of a meeting, such recording shall be discontinued at the request of the Chair or other presiding officer.

5. **Publication of Proceedings**

A report of the proceedings of the Board shall be published for each fiscal year in sufficient number for distribution to interested parties.

SECTION II. EMPLOYEES

A. GENERAL

1. Coverage

This Section II applies to all faculty, administrative, civil service, and other employees of the Board of Trustees of Northeastern Illinois University unless otherwise provided by these Regulations, by law, or by the terms of a collective bargaining agreement.

2. Authority to Employ

The Board of Trustees of Northeastern Illinois University is the employer of all faculty, administrative, civil service, and other employees. All civil service employees within the university are employed in accordance with the provisions of [110 ILCS 70/0.01, et seq.](#), as amended, and the rules of the Merit Board and are entitled to all the rights and subject to all the requirements contained therein.

3. Delegation of Authority

- a. Board approval shall be required for creation, elimination, or significant modification of the position of Provost/Vice President, Dean, or Associate/Assistant Provost/Vice President who supervises Deans. The President shall inform the Board of the appointment, promotion, resignation, retirement, or other event concerning the employment of a Provost/Vice President, Dean, or Associate/Assistant Provost/Vice President who supervises Deans as soon as possible after the event.
- b. Board approval shall be required for the award of tenure, the final, involuntary separation of an employee to be effective during the term of an employment contract, the final approval of contracts with any collective bargaining representative, and, where applicable, creation, elimination, or modification of the categories of appointment specified in paragraph 4 below.
- c. The President shall consult with the Board's Chair before appointing a Provost/Vice-President.
- d. Acceptance of the resignation of an employee on behalf of the Board may be made by the President.

4. Categories of Employment

- a. Faculty employees shall be categorized as follows:
 - 1) Type of Appointment
 - a) Probationary
 - b) Tenure
 - c) Temporary
 - 2) Rank
 - a) Instructor
 - b) Assistant Professor
 - c) Associate Professor
 - d) Professor
 - 3) Bargaining Unit Status

-
- b. Administrative employees shall be categorized as follows:
- 1) Level I includes employees who hold the position of Provost or Vice President.
 - 2) Level II includes employees who report directly to a Provost/Vice President and who are directly responsible for administration or coordination of: (a) multiple organizational units and/or functions; (b) generic and complex instructional activities such as graduate education or continuing education; or (c) substantial, generic, and complex activities or functions which are or university wide in scope. Employees in this category will hold titles such as Associate/Assistant Provost/Vice President, Dean, or Director and will be responsible for such activities as administration of a college, graduate education, continuing education, continuing education, student services, library, admissions and records, business operations, physical plant, budget planning development/university relations, legal services, or institutional research.
 - 3) Level III includes employees who hold the position of Assistant to the President, or the Provost/Vice President. Level III also includes employees who report directly to the President, or to employees in Level I or II and who are directly responsible for administration or coordination of: (a) major subdivisions of organizational units or functions; (b) major subdivisions of generic and complex instructional activities such as graduate education or continuing education; or (c) major subdivisions of substantial, generic, and complex activities or functions which are university wide in scope. Employees in this category will hold titles such as Associate/Assistant Dean, Registrar, Director, Associate/Assistant Director, or Coordinator.
 - 4) Level IV includes employees who are responsible for specific professional activities or services requiring high-level academic preparation and/or conceptual skills or who are directly responsible for administration or coordination of a single organizational unit of limited scope. Employees in this category will hold titles such as Director, Associate/Assistant Director, Coordinator, Supervisor, Internal Auditor, Specialist, Administrator, or Manager.
 - 5) Level V includes employees who occupy positions which call for professional preparation and competence but which are essentially entry or intermediate level support positions.
 - 6) Medical doctors providing health services.
 - 7) Department Chairs (hereinafter referred to as Chairs).
- c. Civil Service and other employees, including without limitation lecturers and adjunct appointments, shall be categorized pursuant to guidelines established by the President.

5. Appointment Procedures

a. Adoption of Appointment Procedures

The university shall develop procedures for the appointment (including acting appointment) of faculty, administrative, civil service, and other employees. The procedures shall contain such provisions as are necessary and appropriate and shall be: (a) consistent with the Board's delegation of authority in Section II.A.3.; (b) consistent with the Board's commitment to affirmative action and nondiscrimination in employment practices; and (c) consistent with the Board's policy on participation in university governance. The procedures and any changes shall take effect when approved by the President.

b. ~~Policy on the~~ Avoidance of the Appearance of Nepotism by Administrative Officers

All university employees who have control or influence over decisions involving the use of public resources or authority have the responsibility to exercise that control or influence in a manner that maintains public confidence in the integrity of institutional decision-making processes. This responsibility includes the expectation that, in their exercise of this control or influence, employees will avoid creating the appearance of nepotism as well as other forms of conflict of interest. This expectation is generally best enforced through such normal processes of institutional shared governance and self-regulation as the submission of the decision in question to open review by disinterested third parties or the withdrawal from the decision making process of those persons who may directly or indirectly influence the process for the benefit of close relatives.

In those situations where the decision maker is the President, or the Provost/Vice President, the reality and perception of their influence and power is such that it would not be possible for them to avoid the appearance of a conflict of interest by merely submitting the decision to review or by withdrawing from the decision making process. In the absence of special circumstances, which may be considered by the Board on a case by case basis, no person who is a close relative, or who is, regardless of relationship, a member of the same household, shall be employed in any position that is under the administrative control of a President or Provost/Vice President, that officer who is their close relative or of whose household they are a member.

This ~~policy~~ Regulation shall not apply to employment decisions made before its adoption. The President shall be responsible for ensuring compliance with this ~~policy~~ Regulation.

6. Educational Requirements

The university shall develop a policy concerning the educational requirements necessary for appointment to faculty rank, including temporary appointments. All educational requirements shall be fulfilled by study in an accredited institution of higher education. The policy shall include the following provisions and such other provisions as are necessary and appropriate:

- a. The minimum educational requirements necessary for appointment
- b. Any exceptions to the minimum requirements

The policy and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President.

7. Position Descriptions

A description shall be prepared for each administrative position, including department chairs, in the university, except for the position of President, which is described in the Board's Governing Policies, and for each civil service and other position. The President shall develop guidelines for the preparation, review, modification, and maintenance of position descriptions.

8. Administrative Organization

An organization chart of the administrative structure shall be prepared for the university. Board approval shall be required for any significant changes in organization prior to their taking effect.

9. Employee Benefits

(Section 9g revised as of April 6, 2017, Board action)

a. Eligibility

The following provisions apply to faculty, administrative, civil service, and other employees not covered by a collective bargaining agreement, subject to the eligibility requirements stated in these Regulations.

b. Military Leave

- 1) An employee who is a member of any reserve component of the United States Armed Forces or of any reserve component of the Illinois State Militia shall be granted leave for any period actively spent in such military service, including:
 - a) Basic training
 - b) Special or advanced training, whether or not within the state and whether or not voluntary
 - c) Annual training
- 2) During such leaves, the employee's seniority and other benefits shall continue to accrue.
- 3) During leaves for annual training, the employee shall continue to receive regular compensation. During leaves for basic training, and for up to 60 calendar days of special or advanced training, if such employee's compensation for military activities is less than the compensation as an employee of the university, the employee shall receive regular compensation as an employee of the university, minus the amount of base pay for military activities. The deduction of military pay from the salary of an employee of the university shall be reflected in the first payroll prepared after verification of the amount of the employee's military pay.

- 4) A member of the National Guard (or other state military component) who is called to temporary active duty in case of civil disturbance or natural disaster declared to be an emergency by the Governor may receive a combined wage from the university, respectively, and the military equal to, but not exceeding, the employee's straight time daily rate for work days absent. If the daily rate received for temporary active duty exceeds the daily rate of the employee from the university, the employee may elect to accept the higher rate in which instance the employee shall receive no compensation from the university, as the case may be. The amount of compensation received for temporary active duty shall be reported to the university, within thirty days after release from temporary active duty. Appropriate adjustment to offset the amount received shall be made in the next regular payroll. Time used for temporary active duty shall not be deducted from the time allowed for regular military training periods in accordance with the preceding paragraphs.

c. Leave for Court Required Service

An employee who is summoned for jury duty or subpoenaed as a witness before a court of competent jurisdiction or as a witness in a proceeding before any federal or state administrative agency shall be granted leave with pay and any jury or witness fees may be retained by the employee, provided that no employee shall be given leave with pay for:

- 1) Appearing as a party in a non-job related proceeding involving such employee
- 2) Appearing as an expert witness when the employee is compensated, directly or indirectly for such appearance or where such appearance bears no reasonable relationship to the employee's professional employment by the university
- 3) Appearing as a plaintiff or complainant in a proceeding in which the Board or the university is a defendant or respondent

In granting leave of absence for jury duty, an employee may be required to return to work for the time during which the employee is not required in any jury attendance.

d. Benefits While on Compensated Leave

- 1) An employee shall earn vacation leave and sick leave while on compensated leave other than educational leave or administrative leave.
- 2) An employee on compensated leave may continue to contribute toward and receive the benefits of any State or Board insurance program and retirement credit in the State Universities Retirement System if the laws, rules, regulations, policies, and procedures governing the administration of such insurance programs or the State Universities Retirement System so permit.
- 3) Upon return to the university from a compensated leave, an employee's salary shall be adjusted to reflect nondiscretionary increases that the employee would have received if not on leave.

e. Emergency Leave

- 1) If an emergency arises (such as a severe snowstorm, tornado, riot, etc.) in which the safety, health, or welfare of employees is a matter of concern, the President may order employees to absent themselves from work with pay.
- 2) Civil Service employees ordered to absent themselves from work under such circumstances shall not lose seniority because of such absence.
- 3) Employees not excused from work under such circumstances who fail to report for work as scheduled may be denied compensation for such absence.

f. Extended Sick Leave

The President of the university may grant an employee sick leave with full pay for a period not to exceed 60 calendar days, if the employee (1) has completed at least three full years of service at the university; (2) has exhausted all sick leave benefits; (3) is a participant in the State Universities Retirement System; and (4) is entitled to and has applied for disability benefits under the State Universities Retirement System.

g. Federal Family and Medical Leave Act

Regardless of any other provisions of these Regulations, and in addition to any other benefits provided to employees, all employees who have a total cumulative service of at least 1 year with the University and who have worked for 1,250 hours over the last 12 months, may take up to a total of 12 weeks unpaid leave during any rolling 12-month measurement period as defined by the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) of 1993. FMLA leave may be taken for one or more of the following purposes:

- 1) Because of the birth of a son or daughter of the employee and in order to care for such son or daughter.
- 2) Because of the placement of a son or daughter with the employee for adoption or foster care.
- 3) In order to care for the spouse, or a son, daughter, or parent, of the employee, if such spouse, son, daughter, or parent has a serious health condition.
- 4) Because of a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the functions of the position of such employee.

FMLA leave for the birth or adoption or foster care placement of a son or daughter may be taken on an intermittent or reduced work schedule and, except where the date of birth or adoption or foster care placement requires leave to begin earlier, will only be given after 30 days' advance notice. If an employee has accrued any paid vacation leave, compensatory time, personal leave, or other family or parental leave under any other University benefit provision, that leave may be substituted for unpaid FMLA leave taken for the birth or adoption or foster care placement of a son or daughter to the extent that such University leave would normally be available for this purpose under the circumstances in question.

FMLA leave taken because of the serious health condition of the employee, or to care for an employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent with a serious health condition, must be supported by certification from a healthcare provider, and may be taken on an intermittent or reduced work schedule of not less than half hour periods when the medical necessity for such a schedule is supported by such certification. Where the need to take such leave is foreseeable based on planned medical treatment, the employee shall make a reasonable effort to schedule the treatment in an operationally non-disruptive manner, and shall provide 30 days' advance notice, or such notice as is practicable if the treatment must begin earlier. Under the conditions defined by the FMLA and in a manner consistent with University procedures, second and third medical opinions and re-certifications may be required and an employee on intermittent or reduced leave may be required to transfer temporarily to an available alternative position. If the employee has accrued any paid vacation leave, compensatory time, personal leave, or any other medical or sick or family or parental leave under any other University benefit provision, that leave may be substituted for the unpaid FMLA leave taken for the serious health condition of the employee or to care for the employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent with a serious health condition to the extent that such University leave would normally be available for this purpose under the circumstances in question. Certification that an employee is able to return to work will be required for return from FMLA leave taken because of the serious health condition of the employee under the same terms and conditions currently applicable to employees under existing state laws and regulations, Board Regulations, and collective bargaining agreements.

In general, an employee on unpaid FMLA leave will be entitled to be restored to the same or an equivalent position on return from the leave, and will be treated in regards to entitlement to benefits while on leave in the same manner as any other employee on leave without pay, with the exception that health benefits coverage shall be extended to an employee on FMLA leave for the duration of such leave at the level under the conditions of coverage which would have been provided if the employee had continued in employment continuously for the duration of the leave. Under circumstances where University provided paid leave is substituted for FMLA unpaid leave, employees will be entitled and will accrue benefits to the extent and in the manner provided for by Board Regulations and collective bargaining agreements governing paid leave. The maintenance of health benefits for employees on FMLA leave will be governed by the rules and procedures adopted by the Department of Central Management Services for this purpose.

h. Implementing Policies

The university may develop policies implementing the benefits specified in this Subsection A.9., Subsection B.6., and Subsection C.7., of this regulation. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President.

10. Outside Employment

An employee's participation in outside employment must be consistent with the employee's obligation to the University as the primary employer and is subject to such conditions as may be imposed by federal or state law or the terms of a collective bargaining agreement. The President shall establish guidelines concerning outside employment.

11. Retirement

- a. Employees are subject to the statutes and rules governing the State Universities Retirement System.
- b. In addition to any other early retirement options available under the statutes and rules governing the State Universities Retirement System, early retirement is permitted for employees who have attained age 55 and satisfy all of the eligibility requirements for such early retirement specified by the statutes and rules governing the State Universities Retirement System.
- c. An employee who is receiving a retirement annuity from the State Universities Retirement System and who is employed at the university shall not receive annual salary payments for such employment in excess of that amount which, when added to his/her annual retirement annuity, will equal more than such employee's highest earnings (including summer session) during any fiscal year prior to retirement.

12. Tax Deferred Annuity Plans

In accordance with the applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, university employees may participate in various tax deferred retirement/annuity plans offered by third-party providers under the following terms:

- a. Conditions of Approval Affecting Participating Companies
 - 1) All tax deferred annuity contracts issued by participating companies must comply with the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. Participating companies must be authorized by the Director of Insurance of the State of Illinois to issue tax deferred annuity contracts and must indemnify the university from any loss caused by such company's failure to comply with such laws and regulations.
 - 2) All monies withheld through agreements between the University and the employee will be used to purchase only qualified tax deferred annuity contracts, which exclude waiver of premium provisions, disability income provisions, and life insurance provisions.
 - 3) Each participating company must provide the President, upon request, all information about its contracts, including but not limited to all charge and commission schedules, and must agree that this information may be made available to employees on a comparative basis with other companies. A principal officer of the company must attest to the accuracy of the information provided.

- 4) Each participating company must designate a company representative or agent who will be readily available to employees to discuss or modify their contracts.
- b. Administration of Tax Deferred Annuity Plan
 - 1) This plan shall be administered by the President, who shall have the authority to prescribe such additional guidelines, not inconsistent herewith, as are deemed appropriate for accomplishing the purposes herein set forth.
 - 2) The University may suspend or remove a company from the list of approved companies at any time. Such suspension or removal shall not affect the rights of employees who have commenced contributions to the company prior to the effective date thereof but shall preclude the company from issuing additional tax deferred annuity contracts to University employees.

13. Official Residences, Offices, and Automobiles

- a. The President may be required as a condition of employment to live in an official residence provided by the University. The official residence should include a public area to be used for ceremonial and entertainment purposes, as well as conferences and other university business. The official residence shall have installed a separate telephone line to the university and other equipment, which may be needed to enable the President to maintain direct contact with the institution and perform official duties on an on-call basis. The University shall maintain the official residence and its grounds and may provide housekeeping services and furnishings for the public area.
- b. The President shall submit to the Board of Trustees for approval an annual budget for repair, remodeling, and furnishing of the official residence. Requests for Board approval of such projects shall be accompanied by a description of the project, a project budget, and a statement of justification. In addition, prior Board approval shall be required for each such project that has not been previously approved by the Board, provided that in emergency situations such approval may be granted by the Board's Executive Committee, and reported to the Board at its next meeting.
- c. Prior Board approval shall be required for each project involving the construction, remodeling, furnishing, or refurbishing of the office and conference areas of the President if the aggregate expenditures for labor, materials, or furnishings for the project, irrespective of the source of funds, will be \$10,000 or more by the time the project is completed or if all such projects relating to the President's Office or conference area will total \$10,000 or more in a fiscal year. Requests for Board approval of such projects shall be accompanied by a description of the project, a project budget, and a statement of justification.
- d. The President shall be provided by the University with an automobile for official business and personal use.

Formatted: Not Expanded by / Condensed by

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.64", Hanging: 0.25", Space Before: 5.95 pt

14. Employees Licensed to Practice Law

Unless appearing *pro se*, employees of the University who are licensed to practice law may not represent any person or entity in any litigation, administrative proceeding, or other matter (other than proceedings conducted pursuant to Board or university regulations or procedures, or a collective bargaining agreement to which the Board is a party) in which the Board, its members, in their official capacities, or employees of the University are adverse parties.

15. Labor Relations

- a. Authority for the negotiation, administration, and coordination of all collective bargaining agreements and overall responsibility for labor relations activities is delegated by the Board of Trustees to the President. There shall be an on-site contract administrator designated by the President to handle the day-to-day implementation of collective bargaining agreements on campus.
- b. No collective bargaining agreement shall be effective or implemented until first ratified by the certified employee representative and then approved by the Board of Trustees.
- c. All collective bargaining agreements shall be signed by the Chair and Secretary of the Board of Trustees or, where appropriate, by the president who shall sign such instruments in the names of the Chair and Secretary.

16. Copyrights and Patents Policies

- a. Copyrights
 - 1) The Board recognizes that the creation of scholarly materials can be of benefit to the author and the university and thus is to be encouraged. Therefore, the Board's copyright ~~policy~~ Regulation is intended to foster the traditional freedoms of faculty, staff, and students with regard to the creation and publication of copyrightable works. At the same time, this ~~policy~~ Regulation is intended to provide a fair and reasonable balance of the interests in such works among authors, sponsors, and the Board and the university.
 - 2) Works subject to copyright may include any written, printed, recorded, or created work subject to copyright under applicable federal law.
 - 3) Under copyright law, the right to copyright any material, or to assign this right to a publisher or producer, normally belongs to the author of the work. However, in the case of a "work for hire," the employer or other person for whom the work has been prepared is considered the copyright owner. To establish guidelines for determining whether a "work for hire" relationship exists and to balance the equitable interests involved, the following principles will be followed:

Ownership in copyrightable works produced by authors who are faculty, staff, or students at the university shall remain with the faculty, staff, or student authors except in the following situations, in which ownership of all rights in copyrightable works produced shall belong to the university.

- a) Works prepared under an agreement with an external party (e.g., a grant or contract) where the terms of the agreement require the university to hold or transfer ownership in the copyrightable work
 - b) Works expressly commissioned in writing by the Board of Trustees or the university, or
 - c) Works created as part of the employee's assigned duties and activities, excluding (i) works created as part of sabbaticals or employee-initiated research release time or (ii) works submitted to journals for publication. (However, works created as part of an employee's unassigned duties and activities are not considered "works for hire," and ownership of copyrights for these works shall remain with the author.) If an author is uncertain about the ownership of a work arising out of a particular assignment, before undertaking the assignment the author shall be entitled to request in writing and to receive a clarifying written statement from the President of the university
- 4) If more than half the cost of production of a copyrightable work not considered a "work for hire" hereunder was provided through university resources, the faculty, staff, or student author shall grant the University an irrevocable, non-exclusive, royalty-free license to use, copy, and sell such work in connection with its teaching, research, and public service programs.
 - 5) With respect to copyrightable works owned or used by the University pursuant to paragraph 3) or 4) above, the author may be required to execute such documents as are necessary to vest ownership, or a royalty-free license to copy, use, and sell such works, in the Board or its designee and to warrant that such works do not infringe any pre-existing copyright.
 - 6) When the Board or the university commissions the preparation of a copyrightable work by an author who is not a Board or university faculty or staff member or student, the contract with such author shall specify that the work shall be considered a "work for hire."
 - 7) Works owned by the author may be copyrighted, published, and distributed by the author, or by others to whom the author has assigned such rights, subject only to any license referred to in paragraph 4) above. Authors may request that the work be produced through the University; and, if the request is granted, an agreement will be drawn up specifying the duties of the author and the University, the distribution of any income received between the author and the University (for the benefit of the university), and other mutually agreed upon terms. The agreement shall be approved by the President after considering the recommendations of the Provost and the appropriate research administrator or committee.
 - 8) To avoid the appearance of impropriety, faculty-authors who require their students to purchase their works should:

-
- a) Donate the equivalent amount of any royalties received from such purchases to the university for use in an appropriate fund (e.g., department or college scholarship), or
 - b) Consider other appropriate methods of divesting themselves of the equivalent amount of any such royalties
- 9) In the event that income is received by the university from any copyrightable works belonging to the University, an appropriate share shall be paid to the author. The amount of said share shall be determined by the President after considering the recommendations of the Provost and the appropriate research administrator or committee.
 - 10) The university's share of copyright income shall be used and controlled in ways to produce the greatest benefit to the university and to the public in a manner to be determined by the President after considering the recommendations of the Provost and the appropriate research administrator or committee.
- b. Patents
- 1) The principle is recognized that discoveries, inventions, and patents that are the result of research carried on by, or under the direction of, faculty, staff, or students on Board or university time, with their facilities, or from funds under their control belong to the University (for the benefit of the university) and shall be used and controlled in ways to produce the greatest benefit to the university and to the public.
 - 2) Patentable inventions or discoveries covered by paragraph 1) above shall be submitted to the appropriate research administrator or committee to be considered for submission to a research corporation, which may patent and commercialize the invention or discovery without expense to the inventor or discoverer or to the university. If an invention is not submitted to or accepted by such research corporation, its disposition will be determined by the President after considering the recommendations of the Provost and the appropriate research administrator or committee.
 - 3) In the event that income is received by the University (for the benefit of the university) from any patent, an appropriate share shall be paid to the inventor or discoverer. This share is to be determined by the President after considering the recommendations of the Provost and the appropriate research administrator or committee.
 - 4) Agreements with sponsors, which provide that the sponsor may determine disposition of patentable inventions or discoveries, may be accepted when required by applicable state or federal statutes or when the action of the Board or University in waiving its rights to such inventions or discoveries is determined to be in the public interest. Any such waiver requires the approval of the President.
 - 5) The share of any income to the university (for the benefit of the university) resulting from the commercial development of inventions or discoveries shall be used primarily for support of further research. Such

-
- use shall be determined by the President after considering the recommendations of the Provost and the appropriate research administrator or committee.
- 6) Approval by the Board of Trustees shall be required for use of the name of the Board of Trustees of Northeastern Illinois University, in advertising or promoting commercial development resulting from research, and approval by the President shall be required for use of the name of the university for such purposes.
- c. The university shall develop policies implementing the provisions of paragraphs a. and b. above. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President.

B. FACULTY AND ADMINISTRATIVE EMPLOYEES**1. Coverage**

This Subsection B. applies to all faculty and administrative employees of the Board unless otherwise provided by these Regulations, by law, or by the terms of a collective bargaining agreement.

2. Salaries and Compensation

- a. The President shall annually develop guidelines for the initial and continuing salaries of administrative employees. The President shall review the guidelines and any changes with the Board before implementation.
- b. The President shall annually develop guidelines for the award of salary increases. The President shall review such guidelines with the Board before implementation.
- c. The university shall develop policies concerning salaries for department chairs. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President.
- d. The salary of any individual becoming a member of the faculty after relinquishing an administrative position shall be determined on the basis of such individual's qualifications as a faculty member.

3. Administrative Employees with Faculty Rank

The following provisions shall apply to administrative employees with faculty rank (including Chairs) and shall not apply to employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

- a. An administrative employee may retain faculty rank in a department (or equivalent academic unit) in which it has previously been granted by the university. Furthermore, an administrative employee may be granted faculty rank at the time of appointment or subsequent thereto or may be promoted in faculty rank if such employee satisfies the educational requirements specified in Subsection A.6., above and faculty rank or promotion is recommended by the appropriate department (or equivalent academic unit), the Dean, and Provost/Vice President and approved by the President.
- b. An administrative employee with faculty rank previously granted tenure by the Board shall retain such tenure, which shall not be transferred from one department (or equivalent academic unit) to another except by approval of the Board upon recommendation by the President after consultation with the departments (or equivalent academic units) involved.
- c. At the time of initial employment by the Board, an administrative employee whose preceding employment included faculty rank and tenure may be granted tenure only if so recommended by the department (or equivalent academic unit), the Dean, the Provost/Vice President, and the President and approved by the Board.

-
- d. Except for a Chair, who shall be eligible for tenure as provided in paragraph e. below, an administrative employee with faculty rank but without tenure shall not be eligible for tenure during the period that such employee occupies an administrative position.
- e. Chairs shall be eligible for consideration for tenure during their term of service as Chair if they hold at least the rank of Assistant Professor. Such employees may be considered for promotion to Associate Professor and tenure in the same year.

1) Educational Requirements

A Chair shall be eligible for consideration for tenure if ~~he/she- they~~ meets the educational requirements established by the university for tenure for faculty employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

2) Years of Service

a) Except as provided in paragraph 3) below, a Chair may not apply for tenure before ~~his/her- their~~ sixth probationary year of employment at the university.

b) A Chair who has no previous full-time teaching or professional service in a baccalaureate degree-granting institution of higher education shall be placed in probationary year one at the time of initial appointment.

c) A Chair who has one year of prior full-time teaching or professional service in a baccalaureate degree-granting institution of higher education shall be placed in probationary year two at the time of initial appointment.

d) A Chair who has two years of prior full-time teaching or professional service in a baccalaureate degree-granting institution of higher education shall be placed in probationary year three at the time of initial appointment.

e) A Chair who has three or more years of prior full-time teaching or professional service in a baccalaureate degree-granting institution of higher education shall be placed in probationary year four at the time of initial appointment.

f) A Chair may elect to be placed in a lower-numbered probationary year by written notification to the appropriate Provost/Vice President by the close of the second academic term following ~~his/her- their~~ initial appointment.

3) Consideration for Tenure on the Basis of Exception

a) A Chair who does not satisfy the educational requirements for tenure established pursuant to paragraph 1) above or the years of service requirement specified in paragraph 2) above may apply for consideration for tenure in ~~his/her- their~~ fourth, fifth, or sixth year of full-time service at the university on the basis of exceptional teaching/performance of primary duties, research/creative activity, or service.

-
- b) A Chair who applies for consideration for tenure as an exception to the educational requirements or years of service requirements shall present evidence in support of ~~his/her~~ their claim for an exception.
 - 4) Tenure for Chairs shall not be acquired automatically by length of service. Tenure shall be granted and may be acquired only by specific action of the Board after receipt of a specific recommendation of the President. Tenure shall be in an academic department or equivalent unit.
 - 5) The performance of a Chair during the entire term of employment shall be considered by the Board in determining whether to grant tenure.
 - 6) An eligible Chair must apply to the Dean of ~~his/her~~ their college (or equivalent unit) prior to the commencement of the tenure process in order to be considered for tenure. In the event that an eligible Chair does not submit ~~his/her~~ their application for tenure in the sixth probationary year, such employee shall receive a terminal contract for the next subsequent academic year.
 - 7) Removal from Office

In appropriate circumstances, removal of a Chair from office during the term of a Chair's appointment may be initiated by vote of a 2/3 majority of all probationary and tenured faculty members of the department, or by the Dean of the College after consultation with members of the department and the Provost/Academic Vice President. The final decision with respect to removal of a Chair shall be made by the President. In the event of removal from office, a Chair shall be entitled to return to ~~his/her~~ their department to assume faculty responsibilities at ~~his/her~~ their then-current faculty rank. The President shall establish guidelines concerning the removal of a Chair from office during the term of a Chair's appointment. The guidelines shall ensure that the incumbent has a brief statement from the faculty of the department outlining the reason(s) for their action, a short summary of the evidence supporting the faculty's action, and an opportunity to explain the Chairs' side of the matter before the President decides.

4. Reassignment and Termination

a. Reassignment

- 1) Employees at the university may be reassigned by the President without notice in advance. The President shall consult with the Board prior to the reassignment of a Provost/Vice President. Employees, other than employees with a temporary appointment (including employees whose appointment is supported by grant or contract funds), who are reassigned shall receive written notice of any reduction in monthly compensation as follows:
 - a) In the first year of employment at the university, not later than three months prior to the effective date of reduction in monthly compensation; and

-
- b) in the second or subsequent year of employment at the university, not later than six months prior to the effective date of reduction in monthly compensation.
 - 2) Unless the contract of employment specifies otherwise, the President may be reassigned by the Board without notice in advance. A President who is reassigned shall receive written notice of any reduction in monthly compensation as follows:
 - a) In the first year of employment as President, not later than three months prior to the effective date of reduction in monthly compensation; and
 - b) in the second or subsequent year of employment as President, not later than six months prior to the effective date of reduction in monthly compensation.

This paragraph a. does not apply to Chairs.

b. Termination with Notice

- 1) The President shall be employed by and serve at the pleasure of the Board unless the contract of employment specifies otherwise. The President shall receive written notice of termination, signed by the Chair of the Board, as follows:
 - a) in the first or second year of employment as President, not later than six months prior to the termination date specified in the notice;
 - b) in the third or subsequent year of employment as President, not later than twelve months prior to the termination date specified in the notice.
- 2) All other employees shall be employed by the Board and serve at the pleasure of the President. Employees, other than employees with a temporary appointment (including employees whose appointment is supported by grant or contract funds), shall receive written notice of termination signed by the President as follows:
 - a) in the first year of employment at the university, not later than three months prior to the termination date specified in the notice;
 - b) in the second through fifth year of employment at the university, not later than six months prior to the termination date specified in the notice; and
 - c) in the sixth or subsequent year of employment at the university, not later than twelve months prior to the termination date specified in the notice.

Employees terminated in accordance with this paragraph b. shall not be entitled to invoke the procedures for hearing provided in paragraph c. below. Their employment is at-will and subject only to the notice and additional term of employment described above. If such employees have academic rank (but not tenure), they shall not be entitled to return to a teaching position. The provisions for prior notice set forth in this paragraph b. shall not be applicable in cases involving termination for cause, in which cases the procedures specified in paragraph c. below

shall apply. This paragraph b. does not apply to the removal from office of Chairs. The President shall consult with the Board prior to issuing a written notice of termination to a Provost/Vice President.

c. Termination for Cause (Hereinafter "Termination")

1) Employees Covered by a Collective Bargaining Agreement

Termination of a tenure appointment at any time or of a probationary, temporary, or other non-tenure appointment before the end of the specified term shall be governed by the appropriate collective bargaining agreement. Employees with tenure or probationary, temporary, or other non-tenure appointments do not have a right to the procedures provided herein which, in such cases, would duplicate the rights provided by the appropriate collective bargaining agreement.

2) Employees Not Covered by a Collective Bargaining Agreement

Termination of employees not covered by a collective bargaining agreement before the end of the specified term of employment may be effected at any time for adequate cause after notice and an opportunity to be heard as provided in these Regulations. Termination proceedings shall be initiated by the President. The President shall consult with the Board prior to the initiation of a termination proceeding against a Provost/Vice President, Dean, or Associate/Assistant Provost/Vice President who supervises Deans/Directors.

"Adequate cause" as used in this paragraph c. shall mean one or more acts or omissions which, singly or in the aggregate, in the Board's sound discretion, have directly and substantially affected or impaired an employee's performance or fulfillment of ~~his/her~~ their duties.

3) The following provisions shall apply to university employees:

a) The President shall have the right to a hearing by the Board.

b) Prior to issuance of a notice of intent to seek termination of an employee, the President shall, when practicable hold at least one meeting with the employee to discuss possible remedial actions by the employee or to discuss settlement of the matter. If such a meeting is not practicable, the President shall make at least one good faith attempt to communicate with the employee by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested addressed to the employee's last known address, to offer the employee the opportunity to propose remedial actions by the employee or to discuss settlement.

c) Prior to such a meeting or attempted communication, the President shall provide the employee with a written statement of the purpose of the meeting, including an identification of the topic(s) to be discussed.

d) Additional meetings or communications to discuss possible remedial actions by the employee or to discuss settlement of the matter may continue until either the President or the employee notifies the other in writing of ~~his/her~~ their belief that further meetings will not be productive.

-
- e) Not later than six months from the date of the first meeting or communication (a time limitation that may be extended by agreement of the parties), the President shall provide the employee in writing with one of the following:
 - i) a statement that further action on the matter will not be pursued and that all references to it will be removed from the employee's personnel file; or
 - ii) a statement that further action on the matter will not be pursued at that time but that reference to it shall remain in the employee's personnel file; or
 - iii) specification of any remedial actions to be taken by the employee, the date by which the remedial actions are to be taken, the method to be used to evaluate whether the remedial actions have been successful, and a statement that no notice of intent to seek termination will be issued before evaluation of the remedial actions; or
 - iv) the terms upon which the matter is to be settled; or
 - v) a notice of intent to seek termination,
 - f) If the President issues a notice of intent to seek termination, the following procedure shall apply:
 - i) A termination proceeding shall be initiated by the President providing a notice of intent to seek termination with a statement of reasons for termination to the employee by registered or certified mail return receipt requested addressed to the employee's last known address. Such mailing of the notice or other documents under this section shall constitute service.
 - ii) The employee shall have the right to request a formal hearing before a committee of five employees selected from the administration. Such a request must be received in writing by the President within fifteen workdays after service of the notice of intent to seek termination. If the employee requests a hearing, the committee shall be selected within fifteen workdays after the President has received the request. The employee shall select two employees to serve on the committee, and the President shall select two employees to serve on the committee. The four employees so selected shall select a fifth employee to serve on the committee. If a committee is not selected by the method described above within fifteen workdays, the President shall appoint the remaining members of the committee.
 - iii) The employee shall be provided with a notice of the hearing and specific written charges at least twenty workdays prior to the hearing. During the proceedings, the employee may be assisted by a counselor or advisor of ~~his/her~~ their choice. When practicable, the employee shall be present but such presence is not required for the proceeding to go forward.
 - iv) A verbatim record of the hearing will be taken and a typewritten copy will be provided to the employee. The burden of proof that adequate cause exists rests with the

-
- university and shall be satisfied only by clear and convincing evidence in the record considered as a whole. The employee will be afforded an opportunity to present witnesses and to confront and cross-examine all witnesses.
- v) The committee shall make a good faith effort to hold full day hearing sessions, five days per week, on days when the University is in session. A termination hearing shall not exceed in the aggregate, a period of three months unless extended by a majority vote of the hearing committee. The findings and recommendations of the committee shall be reduced to writing and furnished to the employee and the President within twenty workdays after the conclusion of the hearing. If the hearing committee concludes that adequate cause has not been established by the evidence in the record, it will so report to the President. If the President rejects the report, ~~he/she~~ they shall state the reasons for doing so in writing to the hearing committee and the employee and provide an opportunity for a written response. If the hearing committee concludes that adequate cause for termination has been established, it will so recommend, with supporting reasons in writing, to the President. If the hearing committee concludes that adequate cause for a sanction less than termination has been established, it will so recommend, with supporting reasons in writing, to the President.
- vi) The recommendation of the President, along with that of the hearing committee should it not concur with the President, a transcript of the hearing and documentary evidence submitted shall all be submitted to the Board for final action. The employee may request, but is not entitled, to appear before the Board in person to make a brief statement, which may be rebutted thereafter by the President.
- vii) If a hearing committee fails to provide its findings and recommendations in writing within twenty work days after conclusion of the hearing, the President shall submit ~~his/her~~ their recommendations in writing to the Board Chair for final action.
- viii) If the employee fails to request a hearing in writing within fifteen workdays after service of the notice of intent to seek termination, the President shall decide whether there is adequate cause for termination or for a sanction less than termination. The decision of the President shall be reduced to writing and furnished to the employee with supporting reasons. The decision of the President in such cases shall be final.
- 4) The following provisions apply to all employees covered by this Subsection B.:
- a) An employee terminated for adequate cause shall not be entitled to salary, severance pay, or any other compensation beyond that earned up to the last day of employment.

-
- b) An employee served with notice of intent to seek termination may be suspended or reassigned by the President, with compensation if ~~he/she is~~ they are of the opinion that the employee's presence in ~~his/her~~ their appointed position constitutes a threat of bodily harm or harm to property or might impede operations. If, following the hearing process described above, it is determined that no action against the employee will be taken, the employee will be restored to ~~his/her~~ their position.
 - c) A record of any disciplinary action taken against an employee shall be placed in the employee's personnel file.

5. Compulsory Disability Leave

- a. If the President believes an employee is unable to perform assigned duties due to illness or injury, ~~he or she~~ they may inform the employee in writing of the basis for such belief and require the employee to obtain a medical examination by a doctor chosen and paid for by the university, or by a doctor chosen and paid for by the employee who is acceptable to the President. The President may suspend such an employee with pay pending such an examination and evaluation thereof. A doctor who conducts such examinations is not responsible for making an employment decision but the doctor's role is limited to advising the President about an individual's functional abilities and limitations in relation to job functions, and about whether the individual meets the university's health and safety requirements. Accordingly, the university should provide doctors who conduct such examinations with specific information about the job and inform the doctor that any recommendations or conclusions should focus on (1) whether the employee is currently able to perform this specific job, with or without accommodation; and (2) whether the employee can perform this job without posing a direct threat to the health or safety of the employee or others. Refusal of an employee to submit to a medical examination may result in further suspension of the employee or other disciplinary action. A copy of the doctor's opinion shall be given to the employee. At the employee's discretion and expense, a second medical opinion may be obtained for consideration by the President.
- b. If the doctor's recommendation or conclusions, in the opinion of the President, indicates that the employee (1) cannot perform the job without posing a direct threat to the health or safety of the employee or others, or (2) is currently not able to perform the job, with or without accommodation the President may place the employee on compulsory disability leave. The President shall notify the employee in writing of the duration of the compulsory leave period. Any earned leave credits shall be used during the compulsory leave period. That portion of the compulsory disability leave, if any, which is not covered by earned leave credits shall be without pay.
- c. After expiration of one-half of the compulsory disability leave period, the employee may, upon prior notice to the President and at the employee's expense, seek a medical opinion from a doctor acceptable to the President as to the ability of the employee to return to work. If the opinion indicates the employee is able to return to work, with or without reasonable

accommodation, the employee may return to work at a time mutually agreed upon between the employee and the employer.

- d. If, in the opinion of a doctor chosen and paid for by the university, or of a doctor chosen and paid for by the employee who is acceptable to the President, an employee is unable to return to work, with or without reasonable accommodation, at the end of a compulsory disability leave, the President may (1) extend the leave without pay, (2) request the employee's resignation, or (3) terminate the employee's employment.
- e. In placing an employee on compulsory disability leave, the university will adhere to all requirements of the Federal Family Medical Leave Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and all other applicable federal and state statutes and regulations and the foregoing regulations shall be construed and applied to conform therewith.

6. Employee Benefits

(Section 6a revised as of November 18, 2004, Board action)

a. Application

- 1) The benefits described in this paragraph 6., are applicable only to faculty and administrative employees who are not covered by a collective bargaining agreement. In those cases where benefits described have been granted by state or federal statutes, any amendments to the statute will supersede and control the application of the corresponding Board Regulations.
- 2) An employee with a full-time appointment shall be eligible to receive the benefits described in this paragraph 6. An employee whose appointment is at least half-time but less than full-time shall be eligible to receive such benefits on a pro-rated basis, provided that such employee shall not be eligible for educational leave or leave without salary.
- 3) An employee who receives an appointment on an "acting" basis shall, if not prohibited by or inconsistent with a collective bargaining agreement, be eligible for the benefits described in this paragraph 6., during the term of the "acting" appointment.
- 4) An employee hired specifically for a full-time temporary position shall, during the first year of such appointment, earn non-cumulative sick leave at the rate of 10 days per year (credited to the employee at the beginning of the appointment) and, if the appointment is 12 months or greater, earn non-compensable vacation days at the rate of 2 days per month to a maximum of 48 days (credited to the employee at the beginning of each month following the month earned). The employee also shall be eligible for holidays, bereavement leave, and leave for court required service, but shall not be eligible for any other benefits provided by this paragraph 6. Such employee shall not receive any benefit or compensation for unused sick or vacation leave at the end of the appointment. If such appointment is at least half-time but less than full-time, the employee shall be eligible to receive the benefits listed in this paragraph 6.a.4 on a pro-rated basis, based on percent of appointment.

-
- 5)
 - a) An employee hired specifically for a full-time temporary position, who is appointed to said position for more than one consecutive year, shall be eligible for sick and vacation leave, holidays, bereavement leave, and leave for court required service.
 - b) In addition, effective at the beginning of the second consecutive year of such appointment, such employee shall become eligible for educational benefits and shall earn sick leave at the rate of one day per month of appointment, credited to the employee at the beginning of the month following the month earned. Such employee shall not receive any benefit or compensation for unused sick or vacation leave at the end of the appointment.
 - c) If the foregoing appointment is at least half-time but less than full-time, the benefits listed in this paragraph 5) shall be provided on a pro-rated basis, based on percent appointment, and the employee shall not become eligible to earn the benefits listed in paragraph b) above until the beginning of the third consecutive fiscal year of such appointment.
 - 6) Part-time faculty employees paid on a per-course basis and employees with appointments for less than half time shall not be eligible for any benefits described in this paragraph 6, except as provided in negotiated agreements.
- b. Vacation Leave
- 1) Employees with 12-month appointments shall earn vacation leave at the rate of 2 days per month during each month, or major fraction thereof, of service in pay status. Employees with less than 12-month appointments shall earn no vacation leave. Vacation leave may be accrued up to a maximum of 48 days. An employee who accrues the maximum will, except as provided below, earn no further vacation leave until the employee's use of vacation leave reduces the accrual below the maximum. An employee who is required to work on a special assignment may, at the discretion of the President be permitted to earn up to 12 days of vacation leave beyond the maximum of 48 days. Such additional vacation leave must be used within 12 months after the employee completes work on the special assignment.
 - 2) Vacation leave shall ordinarily be earned before being taken. In exceptional circumstances, an employee may, at the discretion of the President be permitted to take up to six days of vacation leave before it is earned. In such case, the employee shall accrue no further vacation leave until the amount taken in advance has been earned. If the employee terminates ~~his/her- their~~ employment prior to earning the amount of vacation leave taken in advance, the unearned amount shall be deducted from ~~his/her- their~~ salary upon termination.
 - 3) All requests for vacation leave shall be submitted in advance to the employee's immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor shall assure that the appropriate leave forms are executed and signed and that they are forwarded to an appropriate office, which shall maintain a record of time accrued and leave taken. For vacation leave in excess of 3

days, such requests shall ordinarily be submitted at least 30 days in advance of the date on which the employee wishes to begin leave.

- 4) Approval of the dates on which an employee wishes to take vacation leave shall be at the discretion of the employee's immediate supervisor, and shall be subject to the consideration of maintaining efficiency of operations.
- 5)
 - a) Upon termination of employment, and provided that the employee is not reemployed at the same place of employment within 30 calendar days, an employee, or such employee's estate, shall be entitled to a lump sum payment for accrued vacation leave.
 - b) Vacation leave days eligible for lump sum payment shall be computed by determining the number of days, or fractions thereof, accrued by the employee in accordance with paragraph 1) above and subtracting any days, or fractions thereof, used by the employee.

c. Sick Leave

- 1) An employee, while in pay status, shall earn non-cumulative sick leave at the rate of ten days per year of employment, which shall be credited to the employee at the beginning of the employment year, starting with the first year of employment.
- 2) An employee, while in pay status other than educational leave, shall earn cumulative sick leave at the rate of 1.5 days per month. An employee may accrue cumulative sick leave up to a maximum of 300 workdays. An employee who accrues the maximum, and whose sick leave balance includes cumulative sick leave earned before January 1, 1984, shall continue to earn cumulative sick leave at the rate of not more than 1.5 days per month, provided that the sick leave balance of such employee remains at the maximum by the deduction therefrom of not more than 1.5 days per month of cumulative sick leave earned before January 1, 1984. An employee who accrues the maximum, and whose sick leave balance does not include any cumulative sick leave earned before January 1, 1984, will earn no further sick leave until the employee's use of sick leave reduces the accrual below the maximum.
- 3) Sick leave may be used for injury or illness of an employee, including temporary disability caused or contributed to by pregnancy, which prevents the employee from performing assigned duties. An employee may use up to five days of earned sick leave per calendar year for absences resulting from the illness or injury of a parent, spouse, or child. Upon approval of the President, an employee may use additional accrued sick leave for such absences.
- 4) Deductions of sick leave shall not be made during any Board approved holiday. One day of sick leave shall be deducted for each day an employee is absent because of injury or illness. No more than five days of sick leave shall be deducted in anyone calendar week. Sick leave used by an employee shall be charged against the employee's accumulated sick leave in the following order: first, sick leave accumulated before January 1, 1984; then sick leave accumulated on or after January 1,

-
- 1998; and finally, sick leave accumulated on or after January 1, 1984, but before January 1, 1998.
- 5) a) Upon termination of employment, and provided the employee is not re-employed at the same place of employment within 30 calendar days, an employee, or such employee's estate, shall be entitled to a lump sum payment for accrued sick leave earned after December 31, 1983 and prior to January 1, 1998. The lump sum payment for accrued sick leave shall be computed as the product of the employee's daily rate of compensation and one-half of the lesser of the following: (i) the number of days, or fractions thereof, of cumulative sick leave earned by the employee, in accordance with paragraph 2) above, minus any days, or fractions thereof, of cumulative sick leave used by the employee; or (ii) the number of days, or fractions thereof, of cumulative sick leave earned by the employee in accordance with paragraph 2) above after December 31, 1983 and prior to January 1, 1998. Non-cumulative sick leave days shall be used first and cumulative sick leave days shall be used in the order in which they have been accrued. No lump sum payment shall be made for non-cumulative sick leave.
- b) An employee may waive payment for all or part of ~~his/her- their~~ eligible accrued sick leave (one-half of the employee's accumulated and unused sick leave earned after December 31, 1983 and prior to January 1, 1998) by executing an appropriate waiver form prior to termination of employment.
- c) An employee who has received a lump sum payment for accrued sick leave and who, within two years, is re-employed by the Board may, if separated in good standing, have the employee's accrued sick leave restored if, within 30 days after commencement of such reemployment, the employee repays said lump sum payment to the Board for the benefit of the location at which accrued sick leave is restored. For each day of sick leave to be restored, the employee shall repay the gross amount the employee was paid for one day of accrued sick leave. All or part of an employee's accrued sick leave may be restored in this manner; however, the employee shall not be entitled to have any such sick leave so restored if repayment is not made to the Board.
- 6) The Board, through its authorized representatives, reserves the right to require acceptable evidence of illness or disability with respect to the use of sick leave.
- d. Holidays
- 1) Holidays recognized by the Board shall be New Year's Day, the day before or the day after New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday, Lincoln's Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, the day after Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, and the day before or the day after Christmas Day.
- 2) The ~~U~~university will be closed, except for necessary operations, on the foregoing holidays. Employees will be excused with regular pay on said holidays unless otherwise determined by the President.

-
- 3) Employees who are required to work on an observed holiday shall be granted, by mutual agreement between the employee and the employer, paid time away from work equivalent to the number of hours worked on the holiday.

e. Bereavement Leave

- 1) Leave with pay of three days per occurrence, to be taken within a period of five consecutive work days commencing with the date of occurrence, will be granted to an employee in the event of the death of the employee's ~~husband~~ spouse/partner, mother, mother-in-law, father, father-in-law, brother, brother-in-law, sister, sister-in-law, child, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, grandchild, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, or first cousin, or a member of the employee's immediate household. Bereavement leave shall be taken in not less than one-half day increments and may not be accumulated.
- 2) Bereavement leave of longer duration than set forth above may be approved under special circumstances by the President and will be deducted either from vacation leave or from sick leave at the employee's choice, provided an accrual balance is available.

f. Parental Leave

An employee may use up to 20 days of earned sick leave per calendar year for parental leave upon the birth of a child by the employee or the employee's spouse or the adoption of a child by the employee. Requests for parental leave of more than 10 days shall be submitted to the President 30 days in advance, except in cases of emergency. Non-emergency requests for parental leave of more than 10 days shall be subject to the consideration of maintaining efficiency of operations.

g. Educational Leave

Employees shall have the right to apply for an educational leave after having completed a period of five years of service at the university. Requests for leave shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the person who supervises the employee's work. If such supervisor approves the request, it shall be forwarded to the President for approval together with the written recommendation of the supervisor and a statement indicating whether the work of the administrative or academic unit in which the applicant serves can be so arranged as to be carried forth effectively during the period of leave. The supervisor shall further set forth in detail a report summarizing the work the employee intends to perform during the leave and shall further indicate how such work is consistent with the goals of the university or the professional development of the applicant. The President shall consult with the Board prior to the award of an educational leave to a Provost/Vice President.

- 1) Applications for educational leave may be approved for the following purposes:
 - a) study and research, including related travel;
 - b) creative work in the employee's field of endeavor.
- 2) The employee shall, prior to the granting of educational leave, enter into a written agreement with the Board that, upon the termination of such

leave, the employee will return to service for a full year and that, in default of completing such service, will refund, unless excused therefrom by the President for reasons satisfactory to him or her, an amount equal to such proportion of salary received while on leave as the amount of service not actually rendered as agreed bears to the whole amount of service agreed to be rendered. No such refund shall be necessary should the employee be terminated prior to the completion of the service agreed upon.

- 3) Ordinarily, educational leaves may not result in an increase in net salary cost.
- 4) An educational leave shall not be awarded more than once in every seven years, and educational leave time shall not be cumulative.
- 5) Salary payments during educational leave shall be one-half pay if leave is granted for a full year or full pay if leave is granted for one-half year.
- 6) The maximum number of educational leave units that may be used during each fiscal year shall be 1 unit for each 25 full-time faculty and administrative employees who are not covered by a collective bargaining agreement or major fraction thereof. Each unit so derived shall generate 12 half-pay months or 6 full-pay months of educational leave or the equivalent of the above.

h. Leave without Salary

- 1) An employee may apply for a leave without salary. Ordinarily, such leave may be granted only after the employee has completed at least two consecutive years of full-time service at the university.
- 2) A leave without salary may be granted at the discretion of the President following a determination that the employee intends to return to service at the end of such leave. The initial grant of a leave without salary may be for a period of up to one calendar year. The leave may be extended upon the agreement of the President for a period of up to two successive calendar years.
- 3) An application for leave without salary shall ordinarily be submitted to the President at least three months prior to the starting date of the requested leave. The application must state the purposes of the leave and the period for which the leave is requested. The reasons for which a leave without salary may be requested are: (a) personal, (b) research, (c) advanced study, or (d) professional development.
- 4) Upon return to the university from a leave without salary, an employee's salary shall be adjusted to reflect nondiscretionary increases, which the employee would have received if not on leave.
- 5) While on leave without salary, an employee shall retain accrued sick leave and vacation leave earned prior to the commencement of the leave without salary, but shall not earn additional sick leave or vacation leave.
- 6) An employee on leave without salary may continue to contribute toward and receive the benefits of any State or Board insurance program and may continue to contribute toward and receive retirement credit in the

State Universities Retirement System if the laws, rules, regulations, policies and procedures governing the administration of such insurance programs or the State Universities Retirement System so permit.

- 7) Time spent by an employee on a leave without salary shall not be creditable for determining eligibility for educational leave.

i. Educational Benefits

- 1) An employee may enroll in the university for a maximum of two courses, or six credit hours, whichever is greater, in anyone academic term with exemption from the payment of tuition and fees. The fees, which will be waived by the university, include tuition, application fees, and all mandatory fees and graduation fees.
- 2) The natural, adopted, foster, and stepchildren and the spouse of an employee who dies while in service shall be entitled to a waiver of tuition and fees up to and including the baccalaureate degree at the university. Should both parents be employees, the death of one parent makes the child eligible for the waiver. Children of a deceased employee who is divorced shall be eligible for a waiver of tuition and fees if such employee had been contributing to their support at the time of death.
- 3) An employee who has retired from the university may enroll in the university for a maximum of one course, or three credit hours, whichever is greater, in anyone academic term with exemption from the payment of tuition and such fees as may be waived in accordance with paragraph 1) above.
- 4) See Board Regulations Section IV.B.2.a., for provisions governing the award of 50 percent tuition waivers to the children of employees who have seven years or more with the **U**niversity.

j. Alternative Benefits for Coaches

The following provisions shall apply only to coaches, who for purposes of this subsection are defined, as temporary administrative employees appointed for terms of no longer than 12 months, and more than half of whose assignment is coaching intercollegiate athletics.

- 1) Notwithstanding any of the other benefits provisions of these Regulations, coaches may be given an appointment, which entitles them to the employee benefits described in Section II.A.9., and Section II.B.6., above, (subject to the requirements thereof concerning application and eligibility), but with the following exceptions:
 - a) In lieu of the vacation leave described in Section II.B.6.a.-b., coaches appointed hereunder shall be entitled to non-cumulative vacation leave that shall be earned at the rate of two days per month for each month in the term of appointment. This vacation leave shall be used during the term of appointment, and there shall be no lump sum payment or other benefit provided to such coaches for unused vacation leave at the end of their term of appointment.
 - b) In lieu of the sick leave described in Section II.B.6.a., and c., coaches appointed hereunder shall be entitled to non-cumulative

Board of Trustees
5500 North St. Louis Avenue
Chicago, IL 60625-4699

Issued: April 7, 1998
Last Revision: April 6, 2017

Section II. Employees, Subsection B. Faculty and Administrative

Page: 32

sick leave of one day per month of appointment, credited at the beginning of the appointment. There shall be no lump sum payment or other benefit provided to such coaches for unused sick leave at the end of their term of appointment.

- 2) The appointment of coaches with the above alternative benefits is an option, which may be exercised by the President with the exception that this option shall not be exercised to change the benefits entitlement of any employee where such a change would reduce the employee's current benefits.

SECTION VI. PHYSICAL FACILITIES

A. USE OF UNIVERSITY FACILITIES

The university shall develop policies concerning the use of university facilities. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President.

The university shall develop policies concerning the use of its facilities and shall include the following provisions and such others as are necessary and appropriate:

1. Protection of the right of free speech, subject to reasonable limitations on the time, place, and manner of exercise of that right.
2. Restriction of the use of university facilities to events and meetings sponsored by (a) university groups and organizations, (b) non-university groups and organizations, (c) individuals. University facilities may be used by individuals or non-university groups and organizations only when the event or meeting is of educational, cultural, or social significance, or serves the general community welfare. Use of university facilities for official activities or by university groups and organizations shall have priority over use by individuals or non-university groups and organizations.
3. Prohibition of fundraisers, canvassers, solicitors, vendors, and their agents from pursuing their occupations on university property except on official university business or in accordance with approved university ~~regulations~~policies.
4. Provisions concerning compliance by individuals, groups, and organizations using university facilities with university requirements regarding insurance to protect the Board, its members, and employees.

B. CONSTRUCTION

1. Selection Procedures for Architects and Engineers

The university shall develop policies and procedures for the selection of architects and engineers for university projects. The policies and procedures shall implement the [30 ILCS 535/ Architectural, Engineering, and Land Surveying Qualifications Based Selection Act](#) and the current fee schedule used by the Capital Development Board and shall become effective when approved by the President.

2. Change Orders

The provisions of Section V.B.6., of these Regulations shall govern construction contract change orders.

C. NAMING OF BOARD PROPERTY

1. The Board reserves the right to name and rename all buildings, or parts thereof, structures, facilities, streets, grounds, and other real property belonging to the university, hereinafter referred to as "university property" subject to such agreements as it may make with third-parties.
2. University property may be named for donors of substantial funds, or public persons of the State or Nation or of any country.

3. University property shall not be named for persons holding elective or appointive office in national, state, or local government, members or employees of the Board of Trustees, or members or employees of the Board of Higher Education during the term of their office or employment.
4. The university shall develop policies for the naming of university property. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President.
5. The President shall make recommendations to the Board, regarding the naming of ~~U~~university property.

D. ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE POLICY

The university shall maintain policies concerning the sale, delivery, possession, use, or consumption of alcoholic beverages on university property. The policies shall require compliance with all applicable statutes and shall become effective when approved by the President.

E. CAMPUS DISTURBANCES OR DEMONSTRATIONS

In order that normal educational processes can continue without interruption and in order that individual safety, personal freedom, and property rights can be enjoyed without impairment, the Board has established this ~~policy~~Regulation.

1. Unauthorized Activities

a. Criminal Damage

Criminal damage to State property is committed by any of the acts specified in [720 ILCS 5/21-1.01](#).

b. Criminal Trespass

Criminal trespass to State land is committed by one who enters upon the campus or a building with legal notice that entry is forbidden or who remains in an area after notice to depart.

Persons who violate established university ~~regulations-policies~~ for the use of university facilities shall be notified to depart. This notification should be given publicly and orally by an authorized university representative. If such persons remain, a police officer or other authorized university representative should read applicable portions of the criminal trespass statute [720 ILCS 5/21-3](#), and advise them that they are in violation of the law and may be arrested. In appropriate circumstances, court action of an injunctive or criminal nature should be sought.

c. Interference

Interference with a public institution of higher education is committed by one who, without authority from the institution, through force or violence, actual or threatened, willfully acts as prohibited by [720 ILCS 5/21.2-2](#). In appropriate circumstances, court action of an injunctive or criminal nature should be sought.

d. **Institutional Vandalism**

A person commits institutional vandalism when, by reason of the actual or perceived race, color, creed, religion or national origin of another individual or group of individuals, he or she knowingly and without consent inflicts damage to a school, educational facility or community center or the grounds adjacent to, and owned or rented thereby all as provided in [720 ILCS 5/21-1.2](#). In appropriate circumstances court action will be pursued to enforce rights provided thereby.

2. **Penalties**

Persons who willfully damage State property, commit trespass on the campus, or interfere with the university's operations shall be penalized in accordance with [Article 21 of the Illinois Criminal Code](#).

Members of a campus community who participate in unlawful activities, which disrupt educational functions, shall be dealt with in accordance with established disciplinary and administrative processes. Such processes may be invoked regardless of either civil or criminal actions arising out of the same event.

3. **Outside Assistance**

When the President believes that unlawful activities, which disrupt educational functions, warrant, he/she is authorized by the Board to make prompt application to those agencies provided by the State for the purpose of dealing with those who break the law.

F. MOTOR VEHICLE AND BICYCLE REGULATORY POLICIES

The university shall develop policies concerning the registration and use of motor vehicles on university property and may develop policies concerning the registration and use of bicycles on university property. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President.

The policies shall include the following provisions and such other provisions as are necessary and appropriate:

1. Regulations which govern the use of vehicles on university property in accordance with applicable federal, state, and local laws, which preserve the safety and protect the property of both individuals and the university, and which provide for enforcement by authorized university personnel.
2. Sanctions to be imposed for violations, with an appropriate appeal process for those sanctions.
3. Registration and parking regulations with fees, which shall stipulate that such fees shall be devoted to defraying costs associated with registration and parking operations, and maintenance of those facilities and other property.

G. USE OF UNIVERSITY MOVABLE EQUIPMENT AND OTHER PROPERTY

The university shall develop policies concerning the use of university movable equipment and other property (e.g., paintings) which shall comply with all Illinois

statutes, including the State Property Control Act. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President.

H. FIREARMS ON CAMPUS

(Section VI, Item H added February 9, 2012, Board action)

1. No person shall carry, maintain, or store a firearm, concealed or otherwise, on any property owned, leased, used, controlled, or operated by the ~~U~~university or at any ~~U~~university event, except as provided herein.
2. The following exceptions apply to this ~~policy~~Regulation:
 - a. Members of the University Police Department who are regularly employed by the ~~U~~university and are required to carry a firearm in accordance with their law enforcement duties and responsibilities.
 - b. A firearm, real, or replica, used in connection with a drill, public ceremony, or theatrical performance.
 - c. Federal, state, or local law enforcement officers in the performance of their official duties.
 - d. Possession of firearms is permitted for peace officers, as defined by Illinois law, and members of the Armed Forces, or National Guard while acting in the scope of their duties or responsibilities.
 - e. Any individual meeting any of the above exceptions and carrying a firearm must report to University Police upon entering campus.
3. Violations of this ~~policy~~Regulation should be reported as follows:
 - a. University Police should be immediately notified of any individual found to be in violation of this ~~policy~~Regulation. Employees are required to report violations to University Police if they become aware of violations.
 - b. The University may ban from campus any individual found violating this ~~policy~~Regulation.
 - c. Student violations of this ~~policy~~Regulation will be referred to the Vice President for Student Affairs for discipline according to the Student Code of Conduct. If the student is found to have knowingly used or possessed such firearm(s) in a way that would violate this ~~policy~~Regulation, disciplinary sanction up to expulsion may be imposed.
 - d. Employees violating this ~~policy~~Regulation will be referred to the appropriate Vice President for discipline according to applicable University policy or collective bargaining agreement. If an employee is found to have knowingly used or possessed such firearm(s) in way that would violate this ~~policy~~Regulation, disciplinary sanctions up to termination of employment may be imposed.